
National Park Authority  - 25 March 2022 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A VIRTUAL meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held ON 
FRIDAY, 25TH MARCH, 2022 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 25 March 2022 2

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 16)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:
 

National Park Authority 11th February 2022

EGM 11th March 2022

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 REVISED GOVERNANCE DOCUMENTS (Pages 17 - 32)

8 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES PROVIDED ON 
BEHALF OF THE AUTHORITY (Pages 33 - 54)

9 AFFORDABLE HOUSING STRATEGY UPDATE (Pages 55 - 78)

10 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.



National Park Authority  - 25 March 2022 3

11 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

12 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 13 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.
 

13 ENDORSEMENT OF ADDITIONAL SITES OF IMPORTANCE FOR 
NATURE CONSERVATION (SINCS) IN THE BRECON BEACONS 
NATIONAL PARK (Pages 79 - 168)

14 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624437



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 11 February 2022

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD VIRTUALLY ON FRIDAY, 11TH FEBRUARY, 2022

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr Williams, Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr J Davies

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Canon Aled Edwards (Deputy Chair), Mr Christopher Coppock, Liz Davis, Mr James Marsden, Sue 
Holden and Mr Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Catherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive
Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 11 February 2022

5/22 Correspondence 

There was no correspondence, and no apologies for absence received.
 

6/22 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.
 

7/22 Minutes 

RESOLVED: 

a)      To approve the following minutes and authorise the 
Chair to sign them as a correct record: 

     National Park Authority - 26 November 2021 

     National Park Authority –  EGM 14 December 2021

     National Park Authority – EGM 23 December 2021

     National Park Authority – EGM 20 January 2022

b)      To receive the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 22 October 2021.

 

 
 

8/22 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

9/22 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair advised that he was experiencing some health issues at present and appreciated 
the support of all.  He thanked officers for the papers on the agenda today which required 
very important decisions for the Authority.
 
He reminded members of the requirement to have an annual Personal Development 
Review, or, if a member was aware they would not be standing again, an exit interview.  In 
addition, he advised that the Chair was now required to submit an annual report to 
Welsh Government on all its appointed members.
 

10/22 Chief Executive's Announcements 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 11 February 2022

The Chief Executive (CEO) referred to the busy and challenging period and thanked 
members for the positive comments made at Audit and Scrutiny Committee about 
progress with projects.  She stressed the ongoing capacity issues in the Authority, and the 
loss of corporate memory and experience with the loss of three key heads of service. 
Both resource and morale were low but decisions made today would enable Future 
Beacons to be delivered.
 
She gave updates on meetings held and forthcoming events. 
 

11/22 Draft Corporate Plan 2022-23 

The CEO presented the draft plan which was a transitional one to orientate for the 
future. Outcomes would be key and resources shifted to priority areas, but this would be 
limited by capacity and what the organisation could tolerate.
 
Members were supportive of the plan and suggested some minor amendments which 
would be incorporated.
 

 
 

12/22 Draft Estimates and Levy  2022/23 

Members considered the draft budget for 2022-23 and noted that the Authority had not 
yet received final confirmation of the grant offer.  The Finance Manager drew attention to 
the use of reserves which was not sustainable in the longer term, and advised that were 
the Welsh Government able to provide figures over multiple years, it would give the 
Authority more ability to plan resources over a longer period.
 
A member requested that the CEO provide details of the capital grant from Welsh 
Government when available.
 

 
 

RESOLVED:  That members approve the Corporate Plan 
for 2022-23 subject to the inclusion of changes agreed in 
the meeting.

RESOLVED: 
 
 a) That Members approve the Estimate for 2022/23
b)  That Officers are authorised to issue levy notices to the 

constituent Local Authorities under S71 of the 
Environment Act 1995

 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 11 February 2022

13/22 Revised Scheme of Delegation 

The CEO presented the revised scheme and thanked members who had contributed 
during the consultation phase.  She addressed a number of questions and suggestions from 
members and confirmed that delegated items remained with and could also be considered 
by the Authority if necessary.
 
Regarding the scope and interpretation of delegated powers within the Scheme of 
Delegation the CEO agreed to add the Chair. Regarding this inclusion in the consultation 
process on UK and Welsh Government policy she advised that an Authority response 
would be drafted in line with its existing policies, but that anything additional would come 
to the Authority.
 
Asked about the separation of finance and audit the CEO explained that this was good 
practice and that the impetus of the new Portfolio office supported the need for an 
additional committee, which would allow more sophisticated performance reporting.
 
The CEO advised that she would widen the delegated powers for the Director of Nature 
Recovery and Climate Change to use s39 powers up to a set financial limit.
 
She acknowledged the concern raised about achieving equality and diversity on the 
various committees and referred to the effort of Welsh Government to address these in 
local democracy. 
 
The Monitoring Officer advised in response to a member’s query that rights of way would 
be delegated to the Director of Planning and Place, which would deal with the majority of 
issues quickly and smoothly, but this would not preclude anything contentious being put 
to the Authority for decision.
 
The Chair proposed that any further changes be delegated to himself and the CEO, and 
then the final version would be brought back to the Authority for noting.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)      That members approve the revised Scheme of 

Delegation;
 
b)      That the proposed committee structure withing the 

revised scheme is adopted from the AGM 2022;
 
c)      That any final changes be delegated to the Chair and 

CEO and a final version brought back to the Authority 
for noting only.

 

14/22 Landscapes for Everyone Position Statement 

Members considered a three Welsh Park position statement prepared by former officer 
Ceri Bevan but amended to take account of the pandemic.
 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 11 February 2022

The absence of images depicting a diverse range of visitors was highlighted, as this might 
prevent a feeling of ownership and belonging.  Officers noted this and would try to rectify 
the use of images.
 
There was some discussion about the ability of local authorities to increase council tax on 
second homes, and about the potential for small hydro units in the Park.
 
Cllr S McNichol left the meeting.
 
In response to other comments the officer advised that the scope of this position 
statement was limited to Valued and Resilient and the socio-economic duty but that the 
National Park Management Plan had addressed wider issues.
 

RESOLVED:  To accept the report.
 

15/22 Response to Welsh Government consultation on planning legislation and 
policy for second homes and short term holiday lets 

Officers presented a proposed response to Welsh Government consultation on 
legislation and policy for second homes and short term holiday lets. Asked about how this 
aligned with the Corporate Joint Committees the officer advised that this was a localised 
intervention although the impact of second homes would figure as part of the strategic 
view of housing.
 
Members were supportive of the response and congratulated the officer on a clear 
report.
 
It was suggested that the Chair might send a letter to all constituent authorities urging 
them to consider following the example of Powys in increasing the council tax on second 
homes.
 
The inability of the Authority to progress its Local Development Plan due to the 
phosphates issue was also highlighted, as was the recognition of changing social structures 
such as working from home and multi-generational houses.
 
Officers confirmed that the RTPI had held a series of meetings on the issue and produced 
its own research paper.  
 

RESOLVED:  That members endorse the proposed 
response to the consultation as the position of the 
Authority, subject to the inclusion of views expressed 
during the meeting on the LDP and the socio-economic 
impact.
 

Mr J Marsden left the meeting.
 

16/22 Appointment of members to Committees 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 11 February 2022

Members considered the need to fill vacancies on committees.
 

RESOLVED: to make the following appointments until the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Authority:

 
a)    To note the appointment of Cllr J Davies as Deputy 

Chair of Policy Forum;
b)    To appoint S Holden  to the Audit and Scrutiny 

Committee;
c)    To appoint L Davis to the Appointments Committee;
d)    That the vacancy on the Sustainable Development Fund 

be brought forward to the next Authority meeting.
 

17/22 Member Reports 

A report from the Landscape and Biodiversity Champion was noted.
 
Cllrs A Webb and E Roderick left the meeting.
 

18/22 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.
 

19/22 Any Other Business 

The Chair reported that he had not been advised of any further business.
 

20/22 Access to Information 

RESOLVED: To exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 16 and 17 in 
accordance with section 100A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.
 

The Chair advised that this concluded the public part of the meeting.
 

21/22 Verbal Update on Action Under Delegated Powers 

The CEO reported back to the Authority on actions she had taken under delegated 
powers to carry out a scoping exercise on a possible purchase of land.
 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 11 February 2022

22/22 Verbal Update on Foel Deg 

The Monitoring Officer reported that work would shortly commence on land in relation 
to this matter.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 11 March 2022

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON FRIDAY, 11TH MARCH, 

2022

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr Williams, Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Canon Aled Edwards (Deputy Chair), Mr James Marsden, Sue Holden and Mr Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesCatherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive
Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Public Document Pack

Page 13



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 11 March 2022

23/22 Correspondence 

There was no correspondence and no apologies for absence.  He welcomed Nick Selwyn 
and Charles Rigby from Audit Wales, and also Pam Hibbert, the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, who was in attendance for the public part of the meeting.
 
The Chair asked for a moment of reflection for the people of Ukraine.
 
 
 

24/22 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

25/22 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

26/22 Report from Audit Wales 

Mr Selwyn presented the report and set out the reasons why Audit Wales were 
recommending that the Authority seek help from Welsh Government.  He acknowledged 
that this had been a challenging time for all concerned.
 
The Chief Executive advised that the report provided a way to move forward and be an 
excellent Authority with a passionate and committed team.
 
A number of members commented on the report.
 

RESOLVED:  
 

a)   To accept the recommendations from Audit Wales 
contained in paragraphs 37 to 39 of their report of 
March 2022.

 
b)   To ask the Chief Executive to urgently request the 

assistance of Welsh Ministers to address the 
significance governance problems faced by the 
Authority as identified in the Audit Wales Report of 
March 2022.

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 14



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 11 March 2022

 

27/22 Access to Information 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
a)     To exclude the press and public from the meeting 

during continued consideration of item 4  in 
accordance with section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

 
b)      To exclude the press and public from the meeting 

during  consideration of item 7  in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

 
The Chair advised that this concluded the public part of the meeting and thanked 
representatives from Audit Wales and the Chair of Standards Committee for attending.
 

28/22 Report from Audit Wales (Part 2) 

The Chief Executive advised that while there would be a process for Welsh Government 
to appoint advisors to the Authority she would welcome any thoughts from members as 
to what they wished her to include in her letter to the Minister.
 
Given the difficult financial position the Authority is in, and the capacity issues highlighted 
in the report, Members asked the Chief Executive convey that the Authority should not 
have to finance any support itself. Members did not have any further comments apart 
from expressing the hope that any meetings could take place face to face.
 

RESOLVED: That the Chief Executive be asked to seek 
assistance from the Welsh Government.

 

29/22 Recording the Meeting 

RESOLVED:  That the exempt part of the meeting be 
recorded, although not for public access.

 

30/22 Notices of Motion 

Page 15



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 11 March 2022

Members considered Notice of Motion No 3 on the agenda in line with Standing Orders.
 

RESOLVED:  As per the confidential report on Motion No 
3.

 
Members considered Notice of Motion No 4 on the agenda in line with Standing Orders.
 

RESOLVED:  As per the confidential report on Motion No 
4.
 

The Chair advised whether the proposer and seconder of Motions 1 and 2 wished to 
withdraw their motions.
 

RESOLVED:  That Motions 1 and 2 on the agenda be 
withdrawn.

 

31/22 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 16



Revised Governance Documents

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 25 March 2022

Report Author Julia Gruffydd

Job title Democratic Services Manager

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To seek approval for updates to the Authority’s Cost of 
Care Policy and Schedule of Member Remuneration

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Revised Cost of Care Policy

Enclosure 2: Revised Schedule of Member 
Remuneration

IRPW Report 2022-23

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) To approve changes to the Cost of Care Policy for 
publication;

b) To approve changes to the Schedule of Member 
Remuneration for publication and submission to 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) is responsible for setting the levels of 
remuneration for member of National Park Authorities in Wales.  It recently consulted on its 
draft report for 2022-23 and has now published its final report confirming changes to the Basic 
Salary and also amending how the Cost of Care allowance should be paid.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2022-2023


1.2 Proposals

The proposed changes require the Authority to amend its Schedule of Member Remuneration 
and also its Cost of Care Policy.  The Authority allocates budget each year for payment of care 
costs and the scheme is advised to all new members with the aim of facilitating all members to 
carry out their roles.

Enclosure 1 shows the updated policy with tracked changes to ensure we comply with the 
new arrangements.

Enclosure 2 reflects these changes in the Schedule of Remuneration but also the change in 
membership as at 1 April 2022.

1.3 Implications

Making these changes and publishing the documents will enable us to comply with IRPW 
regulations and ensure that we can publish and promote our Cost of Care allowance to 
encourage new members in future. This is particularly pertinent with the local government 
elections approaching.

The Schedule of Remuneration will need to be updated again after the AGM to reflect any 
changes in membership and senior salary holders.

1.4 Risk

The IRPW carry out regular checks to ensure that all public bodies have published a Schedule 
of Remuneration each year by 31 July.  If this is not done then they do seek reasons for this and 
request that the Authority rectifies this omission.  Having up to date policies and 
documentation is essential for good governance.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to note the changes which comply with the updated regulations and 
approve the two documents.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To approve changes to the Cost of Care Policy for publication;

Page 18



b) To approve changes to the Schedule of Member Remuneration for 
publication and submission to the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

 

Policy on Cost of Care Allowance 
 

Purpose of Policy 
 

To provide additional clarification and guidance to members claiming the costs of care as set 

out in the Authority’s Schedule of Member Remuneration. 

 

Eligibility of Members 
 

Any member who meets the following criteria set out by the Independent Remuneration 

Panel for Wales is eligible to claim for cost of care: 

 

• 7.1 Reimbursement of costs of care shall be paid to a Member or Co-opted 

Member, who has caring responsibility for dependent children or adults, or a 

personal care requirement, provided the Member incurs expenses in the provision of 

such care whilst undertaking ‘approved’ council Authority duties.  

  

• 7.2 Reimbursement of costs of care applies in respect of children who are aged 

156 or under or a minor or adult who normally lives with the member as part of 

their family and who cannot be left unsupervised. and other persons for whom the 

Member or Co-opted Member can show that care is required. If a Member or Co-

opted Member has more than one dependent the Member may claim more than one 

allowance, provided the Member can demonstrate a need to make separate 

arrangements for care.  

 

• 7.3   reimbursement may be claimed for the member’s own care or support needs 

where the cost is not available through the appointing Authority, personal claims or 
insurance. 

 

NB: Care costs cannot be paid to someone who is part of a member’s household. 

 

Eligibility of Claims:  Approved Duties 

 

The Authority is guided by the definition of ‘approved duties’ as set out in The Local 

Authorities (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007. 

 

Under Clause (h) it has determined that preparation for meetings shall be eligible for 

claiming costs of care as according to the following criteria: 

 

a) Attending informal briefings/meetings with officers in the Authority’s office (either at 

the member’s or the officers’ request) or via a virtual meeting platform; 

b) Preparation for meetings (as defined in c) below) in the member’s home to include 

reading agendas, papers, Chairs’ briefing notes, preparation of materials and 

emailing/telephoning officers in relation to the business of the meeting; 

c) Preparation for the following committees will be eligible for claims:  the Authority, 

Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee, Audit and Scrutiny Committee and 

Policy Forum; and its committees as set out in the Authority’s Scheme of Delegation. 

Page 21

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD300&ID=300&RPID=1317878
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2007/1086/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2007/1086/contents/made


d) One claim of up to 4 hours preparation undertaken at home will be eligible for each 

meeting, the date of the meeting and the time spent on preparation to be clearly 

stated in the claim. 

 
Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be paid as evidenced.  

 

Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate equivalent to the Real 

Living Wage hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation at the time the costs are 

incurred. 

 

 

Claim Procedure 

 

The Schedule of Remuneration states the following: 

 

7.3 As payments are taxable under the current HMRC rules, full reimbursement is not 

possible so for clarity this is retitled to “contribution towards the costs of care and personal 

assistance”. It will still require receipts to accompany claims. Eligible Members may claim 

reimbursement of costs of care for actual and receipted costs up to a maximum amount not 

exceeding that determined by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out in 
Schedule 1*.  All claims for reimbursement of costs of care should be made in writing to 

Democratic Services using the templates provided and detailing times, dates and reasons for 

claim for audit purposes.  Receipts are required for both informal and formal care 

arrangements. 

 

*The maximum amount that any member may claim in a month per dependent is £403 per 

dependent. 

 

Cost of Care claims and receipts should be submitted with the member’s claim for mileage 

and subsistence by the 5th of each month, using the claim forms and receipt forms provided.  

Different forms must be used for each calendar month. 

 

For members appointed by local authorities claims will be checked with the relevant officer 

in that authority to avoid any duplication of claims.  If claims are found retrospectively to 

have been duplicated the member will be asked to make a repayment to the Authority. 

 

Any queries about this policy should be made to the Democratic Services Manager on 

01874 620400 or julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Approved by the National Park Authority:  29 October 2019 

Review daReviewed and updatedte:  29 October 2024 February 202221 

Page 22

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
mailto:julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

MEMBERS’ SCHEDULE OF REMUNERATION 2022-23

This Scheme is made under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 with regard to 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations which apply to payments made to 
members and co-opted members of local authorities.  

1. Basic Salary

1.1 A Basic Salary shall be paid to each elected Member of the Authority.
 

1.2 In accordance with the Regulations, the rate of the Basic Salary shall be reviewed annually 
as determined by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

 
1.3 Where the term of office of a Member begins or ends other than at the beginning or end 

of a year, their entitlement to the Basic Salary will be pro-rata.
 
1.4 No more than one Basic Salary is payable to a Member of the Authority. 

2. Senior Salaries & Civic Salaries

2.1 Members occupying specific posts shall be paid a Senior Salary as set out in Schedule 1.

2.2 In accordance with the Regulations, the rates of Senior Salaries shall be reviewed annually 
as determined by the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales.

2.3 Only one Senior Salary or Civic Salary is payable to a Member of the Authority.  

2.4 A Member of the Authority cannot be paid a Senior Salary and a Civic Salary.

2.5 All Senior Salaries are paid inclusive of Basic Salary.

2.6 A Senior Salary may not be paid to more than the number of members specified by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales in its Annual Report and cannot exceed fifty 
percent of the total membership of the authority, except to include a temporary Senior 
Salary office holder providing temporary cover for the sickness absence of the appointed 
office holder.

2.7 A Member of a constituent Authority in receipt of a Senior Salary cannot receive a salary 
from any National Park Authority (NPA) or Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA) for which 
they have been nominated.

2.8 Where the term of Senior Salary of a Member begins or ends other than at the beginning 
or end of a year, their entitlement to the Salary will be pro-rata.

3. Election to Forgo Entitlement to Allowance

3.1 A Member may, by notice in writing delivered to the Proper Officer of the Authority, 
personally elect to forgo any part of their entitlement to any salary, allowance or fee 
payable under this Scheme from the date set out in the notice.

Page 23



2

4. Suspension of a Member

4.1 Where a Member of the Authority is suspended or partially suspended from their 
responsibilities or duties as a Member of the Authority in accordance with Part III of the 
Local Government Act 2000 (Conduct of Members), or regulations made under the Act, 
the part of the Basic Salary payable to them in respect of that period for which they are 
suspended will be withheld by the Authority (Section 155 (1) of the Measure). 

4.2 Where a Member in receipt of a Senior Salary is suspended or partially suspended from 
being a Member of the Authority in accordance with Part III of the Local Government Act 
2000 (Conduct of Members), or regulations made under the Act, the Authority must not 
make payments of the Member’s Senior Salary for the duration of the suspension (Section 
155 (1) of the Measure). If the partial suspension relates only to the specific responsibility 
element of the payment, the Member may retain the Basic Salary.

5. Repayment of salaries, allowances or fees

5.1 Where payment of any salary, allowance or fee has been made to a Member of the 
Authority or Co-opted Member in respect of any period during which the Member 
concerned:

(a) is suspended or partially suspended from that Member’s or Co-opted Member’s 
duties or responsibilities in accordance with Part 3 of the 2000 Act or regulations 
made under that Act;

(b) ceases to be a Member of the Authority or Co-opted Member; or
(c) is in any other way not entitled to receive a salary, allowance or fee in respect of 

that period,

The Authority will require that such part of the allowance as relates to any such period be 
repaid.

6. Payments

6.1 Payments of all allowances will be made by the Authority by direct bank credit in instalments 
of one-twelfth of the Member’s annual entitlement on the last working day of the month.

6.2 Where payment has resulted in a Member receiving more than their entitlement to 
salaries, allowances or fees the Authority will require that such part that is overpayment be 
repaid.

6.3  
40

7.  Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

7.1 As payments are taxable under the current HMRC rules, full reimbursement is not possible 
so for clarity this is retitled to “contribution towards the costs of care and personal 
assistance”. It will still require receipts to accompany claims

7.2 Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal Assistance shall be paid to a Member or 
Co-opted Member, who has caring responsibility for dependent children or adults, or a 

Page 24



3

personal care requirement, provided the Member incurs expenses in the provision of such 
care whilst undertaking ‘approved’ Authority duties. 

 
7.3 Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal Assistance applies in respect of a 

dependant under 16 years of age, or a minor or adult who normally lives with the member 
as part of their family and who cannot be left unsupervised for whom the Member or Co-
opted Member can show that care is required. If a Member or Co-opted Member has 
more than one dependant the Member may claim more than one allowance, provided the 
Member can demonstrate a need to make separate arrangements for care. 

7.4  Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be paid as evidenced. 

Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate equivalent to the Real 
Living Wage hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation at the time the costs 
are incurred.

7.45 Eligible Members may claim contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance for 
actual and receipted costs as set out in Schedule 1.  All claims for the contribution 
towards costs of care and personal assistance should be made in writing to Democratic 
Services detailing times, dates and reasons for claim. Receipts are required for both 
informal and formal care arrangements.

8. Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders

8.1  This arrangement applies to all members who are senior salary holders, including Welsh 
Government appointed members, but does not apply to co-opted members.

8.2 Arrangements for long term term absence (defined as certified absence in excess of four 
weeks):

a) The maximum length of sickness absence within these proposals is 26 weeks or until 
the individual’s term of office ends, whichever is the sooner (but if reappointed any 
remaining balance of the 26 weeks will be included).

b) A senior salary holder on long term sickness can, if the Authority decides, continue to 
receive remuneration for the post held.

c) The Authority can decide whether to continue to pay a senior salary to a senior salary 
holder on long term sickness.

d) The Authority can decide whether to make a substitute appointment, but the 
substitute will be eligible to be paid the senior salary appropriate to the post.

e) If the paid substitution exceeds the maximum number of senior salaries payable (as set 
out in the Annual Report), an addition will be allowed for the duration of the 
substitution.

f) When the Authority agrees a paid substitution, the  Panel must be informed within 14 
days of the decision, including the specific post and the estimated length of the 
substitution, and the Schedule of Remuneration amended accordingly.

Page 25

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


4

9. Co-optees’ payments

9.1 A Co-optees’ daily fee (with a provision for half day payments) shall be paid to Co-optees, 
provided they are statutory Co-optees with voting rights.

9.2 Optional - Co-optees’ payments will be capped at a maximum of the equivalent of 3 full days a 
year for each committee to which an individual may be co-opted.

9.3 Payments will take into consideration travelling time to and from the place of the meeting, 
reasonable time for pre meeting preparation and length of meeting (up to the maximum of 
the daily rate).

9.4 The Monitoring Officer is designated as the “appropriate officer” and will determine 
preparation time, travelling time and length of meeting, the fee will be paid on the basis of 
this determination.

9.5 The Monitoring Officer can determine in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a 
full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting 
finishes before four hours has elapsed.

9.6 A half day meeting is defined as up to 4 hours.

9.7 A full day meeting is defined as over 4 hours.

9.8 The daily and half day fee for the Chairpersons of the Standards Committee and Audit 
Committee, as determined by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales, is set out in 
Schedule 1.

9.9 The daily and half day fee for other statutory Co-optees with voting rights, as determined 
by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales, is set out in Schedule 1.

10. Travel and Subsistence Allowances  

10.1 General Principles

10.2 Members and Co-opted Members are entitled to claim travelling expenses when travelling 
on the Authority’s business for ‘approved duties’ as set out in Schedule 2.  Where 
Members travel on the Authority’s business they are expected to travel by the most cost 
effective means.  In assessing cost effectiveness regard will be given to journey time. A 
Member who does not travel by the most cost effective means may have their claim abated 
by an appropriate amount.  

10.3 Where possible Members should share transport.  NB. In line with Welsh Government 
guidelines this will not apply while Covid-19 restrictions are in place.

10.4 The distance claimed for mileage should be the shortest reasonable journey by road from 
the point of departure to the point at which the duty is performed, and similarly from the 
duty point to the place of return.

10.5 The rates of Members’ Travel and Subsistence Allowances are set out in Schedule 3 and 
are subject to annual review by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

Page 26



5

10.6 Where a Member is suspended or partially suspended from their responsibilities or duties 
as a Member of the Authority in accordance with Part III of the Local Government Act 
2000 (Conduct of Members), or regulations made under the Act, any travel and 
subsistence allowances payable to them in respect of that period for which they are 
suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the Authority.

10.7 The Authority has developed additional guidance to members in relation to site visits 
(Members Travel Policy 2015)

11. Travel by Private Vehicle

11.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales has determined that the maximum travel 
rates payable should be the rates set out by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs for the 
use of private cars, motor cycles and pedal cycles plus any passenger supplement.
  

11.2 The mileage rates for private vehicles as determined by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales are set out in Schedule 3.

11.3 Where a Member makes use of their private vehicle for approved duty purposes, the 
vehicle must be insured for business use.  Proof of appropriate insurance must be provided 
to the Authority on request. See additional advice here:  Members Travel Policy 2015

12. Travel by Public Transport

12.1 Rail or Coach Travel

Unless otherwise authorised rail tickets will be second-class.  

Democratic Services will purchase requisite rail and coach tickets for Members in advance 
of journeys.  In the unlikely event that a Member needs to purchase a ticket directly, 
payment will be reimbursed upon production of the used ticket and/or a receipt.

12.2 Taxi Fares

Taxi fares will only be reimbursed where their use has been authorised for cases of 
urgency, where no public transport is reasonably available, or a Member has a particular 
personal need. Re-imbursement will be upon receipt only.

12.3 Air Fare 

Travel by air is only permissible if it is the most cost effective means of transport.  
Authorisation of the Chief Executive is required and tickets will be purchased by 
Democratic Services.

12.4Travel Abroad

Travel abroad on the Authority’s business will only be permitted where authorised by the 
Chief Executive.  Democratic Services will arrange travel and accommodation.  

Page 27

http://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1478&ID=1478&RPID=204192&sch=doc&cat=13101&path=13085%2c13101
http://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1478&ID=1478&RPID=204192&sch=doc&cat=13101&path=13085%2c13101


6

12.5Other Travel Expenses 

Members are entitled to reimbursement of toll fees, parking fees, overnight garaging and 
other necessary travel associated expenses. Re-imbursement will be upon receipt only.

13. Overnight Accommodation 

13.1 Overnight stays will only be permitted where the Authority’s business extends to two days 
or more, or the venue is at such a distance that early morning or late-night travel would be 
unreasonable.  All overnight stays must receive prior authorisation from the Democratic 
Services Manager.

13.2 Overnight accommodation will be booked by the Democratic Services Manager. Wherever 
possible the overnight accommodation will be pre-paid or invoiced.  

13.3 Direct booking of overnight accommodation by a Member will only be permitted in the 
event of an emergency. Reimbursement will only be made upon the production of a receipt 
and will be at a level deemed reasonable and not in excess of the rates set out in 
Schedule 3.

14 Subsistence Allowance

14.1 The day subsistence rate to meet the costs of meals and refreshments in connection with 
approved duties (including breakfast when not provided as part of overnight 
accommodation) is set out in Schedule 3. The maximum daily rate covers a 24 hour 
period and can be claimed for any meal that is relevant, providing such a claim is supported 
by receipt(s) 

14. 2 No provision is made for subsistence claims within the National Park.

15. Claims and Payments

15.1 A claim for travel and subsistence allowances must be made in writing within 1 week of the 
end of the calendar month in which entitlement to allowances arises and must be 
accompanied by the relevant receipts. Any claims made more than three months after the 
claim month must be signed off by the Chairman of the Authority with the reasons for the 
delay, and Democratic Services authorised to pay the claim.

15.2 Allowances will be paid by the Authority by direct bank credit.

16. Pensions

16.1 The Authority shall enable its Members who are eligible to join the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.

17 Supporting the work of Authority Members 

17.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales expects Members to be provided with 
adequate support to carry out their duties and that the support provided should take 
account of the specific needs of individual Members. The Authority’s Chairs Committee is 
required to review the level of support provided to Members and should take proposals 
for reasonable support to the full Authority. 

Page 28



7

17.2 All elected Members and Co-opted Members should be provided with adequate telephone, 
email and internet facilities to give electronic access to appropriate information.

17.3 Such support should be without cost to any Member. Deductions must not be made from 
Members’ salaries as a contribution towards the cost of support which the Authority has 
decided is necessary for the effectiveness and or efficiency of Members.

18 Compliance
 
18.1 In accordance with the Regulations, the Authority must comply with the requirements of 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales in respect of the monitoring and publication of 
payments made to Members and Co-opted Members as set out in Schedule 4.

Members and Co-opted Members are reminded that expense claims are 
subject to both internal and external audit.

SCHEDULE 1

SCHEDULE OF REMUNERATION 2021-22

MEMBERS ENTITLED TO BASIC SALARY

ANNUAL 
AMOUNT 
OF BASIC 
SALARY

The following named elected members of the authority

1. Cllr Michael Jones
2. Cllr Gwilym Williams (from 25 October 2021)
3. Cllr Karl Lewis (from 12 November 2021)
4. Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe
5. Cllr Edwin Roderick
6. Cllr Susan McNicholas
7. Cllr Mrs Ann Webb
8. Cllr Andrew James
9. Cllr Steve Evans
10. Cllr John Hill
11. Cllr Jeremy Davies (from 22 October 2021)
12. Cllr Graham Thomas
13. Mr James Marsden
14. Mr Julian Stedman
15. Mrs Sue Holden 
16. Mr Christopher Coppock (to 10 March 2022)
17. Ms Liz Davis (to 9 March 2022)
18. Canon Aled Edwards

£4,738

SENIOR SALARIES ENTITLEMENTS
(includes basic salary)

ANNUAL 
AMOUNT OF 
SENIOR 
SALARY 

ROLE MEMBER

Page 29



8

SENIOR SALARIES ENTITLEMENTS
(includes basic salary)

ANNUAL 
AMOUNT OF 
SENIOR 
SALARY 

ROLE MEMBER
1. Chairman of the Authority Cllr Gareth 

Ratcliffe
£12,84513,531

2. Deputy Chairman of the Authority Canon Aled 
Edwards 

£8,478

3. Chairman, Planning, Access &
Rights of Way Committee

Mr Julian 
Stedman

£8,478

4. Chairman of Audit and
Scrutiny Committee

Cllr Andrew 
James

£8,478

A maximum of 4 senior salaries for Brecon Beacons National Park Authority may be paid and 
this has not been exceeded.

ENTITLEMENT AS STATUTORY CO-OPTEES

ROLE MEMBER

AMOUNT OF 
CO-OPTEES 
ALLOWANCES

Chair of Standards Committee Ms Pam Hibbert £268 Daily Fee
£134 ½ Day Fee

Statutory Co-optees - Standards Committee Mrs Claire Moore Mr 
Martin Veale 

£210 Daily Fee
£105 ½ Day Fee

Contribution towards the costs of care

All Members Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate 
Wales) care costs to be paid as evidenced;
Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid 
up to a maximum rate equivalent to the Real 
UK Living Wage at the time the costs are 
incurred.

NB. Costs cannot be paid to someone who is 
part of the member’s household

Cost of Care Policy for the Authority is in 
place

Members Support – what is provided in terms of telephone, 
internet or email (see Determination 6)
Access to Email for all Members using a Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority address 
Internet Support for all other Members  while they are in BBNPA HQ, Plas y 
Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon

Page 30



9

SCHEDULE 2

Approved duties:   -

 attendance at a meeting of the Authority or of any committee of the Authority or of any 
body to which the Authority makes appointments or nominations or of any committee of 
such a body, whether held in person or via a virtual meeting platform;

 attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the Authority is a 
member;

 attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the Authority or by 
a committee of the Authority or by a joint committee of the Authority and one or more 
other Authorities;


 a duty undertaken in pursuance of a standing order which requires a Member or Members 

to be present when tender documents are opened;

 a duty undertaken in connection with the discharge of any function of the Authority which 
empowers or requires the Authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises;

 attendance at any training or developmental event approved by the Authority. 

 Any other duties which have been approved by the Authority: 

SCHEDULE 3

Mileage Rates 

All sizes of private motor vehicle
Up to 10,000 miles
Over 10,000 miles

45 pence per mile
25 pence per mile

Private Motor Cycles 
Pedal Cycles

24 pence per mile
20 pence per mile

Passenger supplement 05 pence per mile

Subsistence Allowance 

The day subsistence rate is up to a maximum of £28 and covers a 24 hour period and can be 
claimed for any meal if relevant provided such a claim is supported by receipts. 

Overnight Stay

Page 31



10

The maximum allowances for an overnight stay are £200 for London and £95 for elsewhere.  A 
maximum of £30 is available for an overnight stay with friends or relatives whilst on approved 
duty.

Where the Authority requires a journey to be repeated on consecutive days, and it is reasonable 
and cost effective to reimburse an overnight stay instead of repeated daily mileage costs, then it 
will do so.

SCHEDULE 4

Compliance

 The Authority will arrange for the publication on the council’s website the total sum paid 
by it to each Member and Co-opted Member in respect of salary, allowances, fees and 
reimbursements not later than 30 September following the close of the year to which it 
relates.  In the interests of transparency this will include remuneration from all public 
service appointments held by elected Members. It will forward a copy to the Panel by the 
same date.

 The Authority will publish on its website a statement of the basic responsibility of a 
member and role descriptors for senior salary office holders, which clearly identify the 
duties expected.

 The Authority will publish on its website the annual schedule of Member Remuneration 
not later than 31 July of the year to which the schedule refers.  

• The Authority will send a copy of the schedule to the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales not later than 31 July of the year to which the schedule refers

 The Authority will maintain records of Member/Co-opted Members attendance at 
meetings of the Authority and committees and other approved duties for which a 
Member/Co-opted Member submits a claim for reimbursement.

 When the Authority agrees a paid substitution for sickness absence it will notify the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales within 14 days of the date of the decision of 
the details including the particular post and the duration of the substitution.

Page 32



Summary of Consultation Responses submitted on behalf of the 
Authority 
Period the report relates to: 11th February to 15th March 2022

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 25th March 2022

Report Author Helen Lucocq

Job title Strategy and Policy Manager

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@Beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report This report is intended as a standing item to the National 
Park Authority and provides a summary of all consultations 
Officers of the Authority have responded to on behalf of the 
Authority under delegated powers.  Such responses are 
framed by the adopted policy and strategy of the Authority.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Response to Consultation Welsh 
Language Communities Housing Plan

Enclosure 2 Response to Water Resources West:  
Consultation Regional Plan 

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) Members note the report

1.1 Introduction or Background

In accordance with the new scheme of delegation (approved by NPA on the 11th 
February 2022), Officers have been delegated powers to respond to external 
consultations where the response provided is in accordance with the adopted strategy 
and policy of the Authority.

Page 33

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Responding to consultations from external bodies is a key part of our work, it enables 
the Authority to advocate for key areas of policy, and influence the work of partners, 
including helping to shape future National Policy.

To ensure members remain briefed of the nature of consultations the Authority is 
making representations upon and the content of Officer representations thereon, the 
Chief Executive has determined that a standing item be added to this agenda to 
summaries officers work in this sphere for the period.  This report provides the first of 
such agenda items.

For future iterations of this report – the following table will be presented without 
covering report.

Page 34



Consultation response summary table

Consulting 
Body

Consultation Title and 
Link

Summary of consultation Summary of Officers Response

Welsh 
Government

Welsh Language 
Communities Housing Plan 

The consultation forms part of the Welsh Governments 
‘three pronged’ approach to addressing the soico-
economic impact of rural housing  supply. The 
proposed Welsh Language Communities Plan proposes 
a range of interventions aimed at supporting 
‘linguistically vibrant communities’.  These interventions 
centre on

- Creating community led co-operative and social 
enterprises

- Support community based enterprises within the 
short-term holiday let sector where profit is 
used to purchase stock for social rent

- Establish an Estate Agents’ Steering Group to 
create innovative approaches to house sales 
which support local buyers gaining access to 
local housing.

- Develop a commission on Welsh-Speaking 
Communities

- Extend the scope of the Economy and Welsh 
Language Roundtable to include Housing with a 
role of overseeing the progress of the Welsh 
Language Communities Housing Plan.

- Protect historic Welsh language place names

Officers are generally supportive of all 
proposals outlined within the Plan. We 
identify key areas where the proposals 
could be strengthened, such as the 
adoption of a ‘community right to buy’ 
as has been enacted in Scotland.

We also reiterate that the challenge 
remains the gap between local wages 
and house prices and the urgent need 
to address the income/wealth disparity 
which is the major blocker to local (and 
young local people) accessing rural 
housing.

The full response is provided at Enclosure 
1.

P
age 35

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-11/welsh-language-communities-housing-plan-consultation-doc.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-11/welsh-language-communities-housing-plan-consultation-doc.pdf


Consulting 
Body

Consultation Title 
and Link

Summary of consultation Summary of Officers Response

Water 
Resources 
West

Emerging Regional 
Plan for Consultation 

Water Resources West is a group of water 
abstractors (including Dwr Cymru) and 
regulators working together to develop a 
new regional plan for water resources 
considering societal needs, environmental 
improvement and cross sectoral working.

The Plan aims to 

- address the long-term needs of public 
and non-public water supply sectors 
throughout our region 

- adapt to the challenges we will face in 
future decades

- contribute to the delivery of the 
Government’s 25-year Environment 
Plan for England, the Water Strategy 
for Wales and the Welsh 
Government’s Natural Resources 
Policy

- deliver positive environmental 
outcomes, avoid deterioration, 
increase environmental resilience and 
promote wellbeing in our communities

- support the UK-wide and water sector 
plans for carbon net zero 

- be cost effective and balanced 
- contribute to national water resources 

resilience without prejudice to our 
own region.

Officers are generally supportive of the plan, and welcome 
the opportunity to input into this key area of policy for 
the Park.  The NPA area supplies 50% of DCWW water 
and as such the management of that resource is a joint 
responsibility between us and DCWW. 

Whereas Officers recognise the proposed plan is not 
required to address issues of water quality, Officers 
identify this as a failure of.   We identify that consideration 
of a future water resource plan in isolation from the 
multiple challenges our water environment faces, and its 
interaction with socio-economic processes is reductionist 
and potentially risky.  

Officers also identify key areas for future collaborative 
working with DCWW and the Mega Catchment to 
develop and implement landscape scale projects to 
support a range of outcomes including nature recovery, 
nature based improvements in water quality, nature based 
flood alleviation.

Officers are discussing these matters in more depth with 
Water Resources West and the Mega Catchment

The full response is provided at Enclosure 2.
 

P
age 36

https://waterresourceswest.co.uk/publications
https://waterresourceswest.co.uk/publications


RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) Members note the report

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Number: WG43713

Welsh Language Communities Housing Plan

Consultation on the proposed 
Welsh Language Communities Housing Plan 

Date of issue: 23 November 2021
Action required: Responses by 22 February 2022

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg. 
This document is also available in Welsh.

  © Crown copyright

Welsh Government 
Consultation Document

Page 39



Overview

Welsh Language Communities Housing 
Plan
This consultation seeks your views on the Welsh 
Government’s proposals on the Welsh Language 
Communities Housing Plan which offers a package of 
interventions to support Welsh-speaking communities with 
a high concentration of second homes.

How to 
respond

Responses to this consultation should be 
e-mailed/posted to the address below to arrive by 22 
February 2022 at the latest.

Further 
information 
and related 
documents

Large print, Braille and alternative language versions 
of this document are available on request.

The consultation documents can be accessed from the 
Welsh Government’s website at gov.wales/consultations

Contact 
details

For further information:

Welsh Language Division
Welsh Government
Doc Fictoria
Caernarfon
Gwynedd
LL55 1TH

https://gov.wales/welsh-language-communities-housing-
plan 

e-mail: UnedIaithGymraegWelshLanguageUnit@gov.wales 

             
         @WG_Education

Facebook/EducationWales

Page 40

https://beta.gov.wales/consultations
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Fwelsh-language-communities-housing-plan&data=04%7C01%7CIddon.Edwards2%40gov.wales%7C5b4fd58fbf594111b92808d9a8225450%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637725687650636953%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=tOPBMkAPZ4LYzYUMqc4Z4QuoiSt8zZcrqxnF6hFpPBw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fgov.wales%2Fwelsh-language-communities-housing-plan&data=04%7C01%7CIddon.Edwards2%40gov.wales%7C5b4fd58fbf594111b92808d9a8225450%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637725687650636953%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=tOPBMkAPZ4LYzYUMqc4Z4QuoiSt8zZcrqxnF6hFpPBw%3D&reserved=0
mailto:UnedIaithGymraegWelshLanguageUnit@gov.wales


UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR)
The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide as 
part of your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory powers 
they will rely on to process this personal data which will enable them to make 
informed decisions about how they exercise their public functions. Any response you 
send us will be seen in full by Welsh Government staff dealing with the issues which 
this consultation is about or planning future consultations. Where the Welsh 
Government undertakes further analysis of consultation responses then this work 
may be commissioned to be carried out by an accredited third party (e.g. a research 
organisation or a consultancy company). Any such work will only be undertaken 
under contract. Welsh Government’s standard terms and conditions for such 
contracts set out strict requirements for the processing and safekeeping of personal 
data.

In order to show that the consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh 
Government intends to publish a summary of the responses to this document. We 
may also publish responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or part of the 
address) of the person or organisation who sent the response are published with the 
response. If you do not want your name or address published, please tell us this in 
writing when you send your response. We will then redact them before publishing.
You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information 
legislation.

If your details are published as part of the consultation response then these 
published reports will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held otherwise by 
Welsh Government will be kept for no more than three years.

Your rights
Under the data protection legislation, you have the right:
 to be informed of the personal data held about you and to access it
 to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data
 to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing
 for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’
 to (in certain circumstances) data portability
 to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who is our 

independent regulator for data protection.

For further details about the information the Welsh Government holds and its use, or 
if you want to exercise your rights under the UK GDPR, please see contact details 
below:

Page 41



Data Protection Officer:
Welsh Government
Cathays Park
CARDIFF
CF10 3NQ
e-mail: Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales

Page 42

mailto:Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales


2

Welsh Language Communities Housing Plan

Consultation 
response form Your name: Helen Lucocq

Organisation (if applicable): Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority

e-mail/telephone number: helen.lucocq@beacons-
npa.gov.uk

Your address:

Responses should be returned by 22 February 2022 to

Welsh Language Division
Welsh Government
Doc Fictoria
Caernarfon
Gwynedd
LL55 1TH

or completed electronically and sent to: 

e-mail: UnedIaithGymraegWelshLanguageUnit@gov.wales 

Page 43

mailto:UnedIaithGymraegWelshLanguageUnit@gov.wales


3

Questions

Question 1 
Do you think a co-operative or community-led housing model could help local people to 
access affordable housing?

Yes

Question 2
How can Welsh Government encourage further participation in a co-operative or 
community-led housing model in Wales?

One of the major blockers to the delivery of such housing models is the availability of 
land genuinely available to meet community needs.

The Authority has been an early adopter of the Place Plan model for community 
development.    We have long believed that this form of community derived planning 
could be instrumental in enabling communities to come together to (1) identify and 
evidence the scale of the need for community housing (2) the structure and grouping 
to drive it and finally (3) identify the land for community housing and to have this then 
recognised in the planning process - but without the need to engage in formal LDP 
production.  This would take support from the Planning division of Welsh 
Government to ensure the robustness of any identification and development process.

The development of such schemes would be further advanced if WG introduced a 
community right to buy land, as has been introduced in Scotland.  This could be 
further refined in Wales to ensure that land identified by the community can be 
purchased at affordable levels with assistance from WG for the purchase cost.

Question 3
What are the challenges to sustaining sufficient local interest and investment in social 
enterprises?

The BBNA is greatly impressed by the development of such schemes and believe 
that there is huge value in involving the community in providing solutions to the 
challenges associated with the visitor economy and rural housing.  

Although we have no experience in such schemes directly, our involvement with a 
range of community interest companies within the region has taught us that often 
such projects are only successful because of the involvement of committed and 
dedicated individuals who drive projects forward.  We refer to such individuals as 
community champions.  These individuals obviously require support to ensure they 
are able to sustain the drive they put into such projects.  But more than this, there 
needs to be processes in place to ensure that others in the community can learn 
from their leadership and feel empowered to continue the work – so allowing such 
champions space to mentor others is a key component in ensuring the long-term 
survival (and growth) of such projects.

Question 4 
What support or incentives could Welsh Government offer to encourage engagement in 
such a scheme?

Page 44

https://www.gov.scot/policies/land-reform/community-right-to-buy/#right%20to%20buy%20process


4

As with all such schemes providing seed funding, training in key areas of business 
development and administrative support to ensure good governance of such 
schemes will be essential.

Question 5
To what extent do you think the Estate Agents’ Steering Group is a practical and effective 
way of helping estate agents to play their part in protecting Welsh language communities?

This is an interesting prospect and one which the BBNPA supports as a means of 
disseminating information about local communities to prospective purchasers.  In a 
free market economy, in relation to the sale of unrestricted properties, the role of 
Estate Agents is probably limited to that of information sharing. 

Question 6
How can estate agents be encouraged or incentivised to engage with the Steering Group?

This is not the BBNPAs area of expertise however it may be of value to create a 
quality mark of some form that acts to signal to prospective clients that the agents 
act in such a way that is supportive of Welsh language communities (akin to the 
Investors in People quality mark etc).  This could provide some added value that 
Estate Agents are able to capitalise on that could be used as an incentive.

Question 7
Would a short period for local residents to view and make offers on housing help them to 
access property markets?

It is considered that the voluntary nature of the proposals would make little inroad to 
addressing the challenges associated with rural housing markets.

The major challenge associated with locals accessing housing is not how it is 
advertised, but the disconnect between local wages and house prices.  A period 
where locals can view housing that is financially unattainable will just frustrate the 
sense of social injustice felt in these communities.

More focus should be placed on addressing the income/wealth disparity that is the 
major blocker to local (and young local people) accessing rural housing.

Question 8
What else might help offer local buyers a ‘fair chance’ in the housing market?

As stated above, the issue is one of income and wealth inequality – a help to buy 
scheme (or similar), aimed at keeping young people living in local communities has 
to be a key part of the toolbox at addressing the challenge of sustainable rural living 
and supporting Welsh language communities. 

Page 45



5

Question 9
How could Cultural Ambassadors engage at a community level to support social cohesion 
and develop a better understanding of our culture, language and heritage?

The Authority has a long history of developing and implementing Ambassador 
schemes in enabling information dissemination at ‘peer to peer’ level.  It is a 
mechanism that is both highly successful and cost effective to implement.
To make this proposal successful, careful consideration will need to be made as to 
how the ambassadors interact within the community eg.  Are the cultural 
ambassadors selected from within existing community networks, eg head teachers, 
pub landlords, community councillors who take the learning from the scheme into 
their existing roles and enrich existing networks – or -  are the ambassadors paid 
posts operating in the community development sphere, perhaps in the preparation of 
Place Plans?  The former is probably more effective in terms of providing that ‘peer 
to peer’ learning that is so effective in providing an authentic dissemination of 
messages (as has been our experience)  the latter may provide opportunities to fully 
explore activity purposefully designed to improve understanding of culture, language 
and heritage.

Both options have their value and it maybe a combination of the two that could 
ensure cultural heritage (and language) considerations are integrated into all activity 
at the local level.  The BBNPA would be keen to assist in the design and 
development of Cultural Ambassador scheme building on the extensive work we 
have undertaken in this sphere with our own Ambassadors. We would also be 
interested to pilot the concept with communities developing Place Plans to see how 
the two could interact to support the cultural heritage of our communities.

Question 10
What specific factors should the commission consider in relation to sustaining Welsh as a 
community language?

In BBNPA recently hosted a ‘deep dive’ around Welsh language policy development 
and implementation.  Through this session the following factors were identified as 
key drivers impacting linguistic change

- Access to Welsh medium education at all levels.  
- Economic drivers – it was considered that many young people leave the 

communities of their birth to access further education, find work and/or 
access affordable housing, often entering areas which are more ‘anglicized’ 
and English becomes the primary language of their daily lives 

- Social media/on demand television -  its dominance in peoples lives and 
‘anglicizing’ influence – shifting the dominant code for communication

- The focus on second and holiday homes ignores the systemic issues which 
are causing the population shifts – these were identified as primarily 
economic although lifestyle choice was also discussed at length - the desire 
for young people to move to the city to access a different ‘life’ experience is a 
key part of the picture and one that could benefit from further 
research/understanding.

Question 11

Page 46



6

What, in your view, will be the challenges facing the commission? 

See answer to question 10 above – the issues impacting on Welsh Language 
communities are systemic and go much wider than issues of language alone.

Question 12
Are there any examples, practices or instances of interest that could inform the 
commission’s understanding of the factors that affect the language?

Question 13
What (more), alongside housing support, can be done to support local and particularly 
young people to remain, live and work in their communities? 

The Authority is currently championing the concept of 20 minute communities as a 
means to create viable, sustainable, thriving rural communities.  We believe that this 
model could help in retaining more young people.  See for example the RTPIs policy 
discussion paper around ‘living locally’ https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/10511/rtpi-
cymru-living-locally-in-rural-wales-discussion-paper-jan-2022.pdf

Such communities are those where basic needs can be met within 20 minutes either 
walking, cycling or via sustainable transport methods.  Such communities are ones 
where housing is affordable, there are civic spaces to support community cohesion, 
built around sustainable and active travel hubs and where communities work 
together to meet their needs, eg community shops, community pubs and community 
renewable energy schemes. Such communities would be supported by the latest 
digital infrastructure to support working from home to enable young people to access 
good quality employment without the need to leave the communities they grew up in.  
Such communities would also support the development of a strong foundation 
economy including the caring economy (from child care through to supporting aging 
in situ).

Such communities need careful planning with existing community members, and 
again we advocate for such development through the mechanism of Place Planning.

Question 14
Do you have any further comments or suggestions in relation to any of the specific schemes 
mentioned above?

Question 15
What kind of local interventions would you want to see to promote the importance of Welsh 
place names, encourage their retention and to maintain the Welsh language as a visual part 
of our communities?

The BBNPA would be supportive of interventions aimed at reintroducing Welsh 
Place Names over their anglicised counterparts – whereas we can introduce this at a 

Page 47

https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/10511/rtpi-cymru-living-locally-in-rural-wales-discussion-paper-jan-2022.pdf
https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/10511/rtpi-cymru-living-locally-in-rural-wales-discussion-paper-jan-2022.pdf


7

local level eg, changing the way we refer to ourselves from Brecon Beacons to 
Bannau Brycheiniog we believe that this would take support from Welsh 
Government to reinforce the value, and legitimacy of the shift. We suggest that the 
WG lead by example in this arena.

Question 16
What else should be considered as part the Welsh Language Communities Housing Plan?

Whereas we understand there is a clear link between housing and the Welsh 
Language, we believe that this is a symptom of wider economic challenges facing 
our rural communities.

In the post-covid economy the de-tethering of jobs and housing clearly provides 
potential to address some of the economic issues facing such communities.  We 
therefore believe that improvements to digital infrastructure should form a significant 
part to the future Welsh Language Communities Housing Plan.

Question 17
What changes would you make to the proposals presented in this plan to improve their 
effectiveness?

We believe in the potential of all proposals presented here.  We believe that they 
could be strengthened through support for Place Planning – empowering communities 
to be the architect of their own sustainable future.

Question 18
We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues which we 
have not specifically addressed, please use this space to report them.

Responses to consultations are likely to be made public, on the 
internet or in a report. If you would prefer your response to remain 
anonymous, please tick here: ☐

Page 48



Thursday 3rd March 2022
By email. 

Dear Richard, 

Thank for the opportunity to respond to your current consultation Water Resources West: 
Emerging Regional Plan for consultation January 2022. 

The following response has been drafted by the officers of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority based on extant strategy and policy in relation to water resources, nature 
recovery, climate change adaptation, sustainable land management and the urgent need to 
support a just transition for our communities1.  

About the Brecon Beacons National Park

Designated in 1957, the Brecon Beacons National Park covers an area of 520square miles.  
from the rural heartland of Mid Wales in the North to the post-industrial communities in 
the South Wales Valleys.  East to West the Park spans the Marches to the fringes of 
Llandeilo. A diverse and spectacular landscape, the area is administered by the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority whose twin statutory purposes (as defined by the 
Environment Act 1995) seek to conserve and enhance the cultural heritage, natural beauty 
and wildlife of the Park whilst providing opportunities for the enjoyment and understanding 
of our special qualities.  In the pursuance of our purposes the Authority has a duty to seek 
to foster the socio-economic wellbeing of our constituent communities.  The statutory 
National Park Management Plan defines the management objectives for the area and how 
the purposes and duty will be pursued.  The current plan A Management Plan for the Brecon 
Beacons National Park 2015-2020: Putting Well-being at the Heart of Managing our National Park 
was adopted in 2020.  A replacement Management Plan Future Beacons is emerging and a 
draft plan is currently open for consultation.

Section 62(2) of the Environment Act 1995 imposes a duty on all public bodies to have 
regard to the two National Park purposes when making their decisions or carrying out 
activities in relation to or so as to affect land within a National Park.  It is our opinion that 

1 Namely
The Brecon Beacons Management Plan 2015-2020 Putting wellbeing at the heart of Managing the National Park 
(Adopted 2015)
The Brecon Beacons Local Development Plan 2007-2021 (Adopted 2013)
Future Beacons: The Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park 2022-2027 (Consultation Draft 2021)

Page 49

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/BBNP-Management-Plan-PROOF-03-03-16-English.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/BBNP-Management-Plan-PROOF-03-03-16-English.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Future-Beacons-V1.4-low-res.pdf


this duty is relevant to Water Resources West and the development and implementation of 
the Regional Plan.  As such our response is provided with this duty in mind, and the need 
for the final plan to reflect the significance. of the National Parks within the plan area.

Water resources within the Brecon Beacons National Park

The Park is the water catchment area for South Wales, containing most of its major 
reservoirs: there are 19 in the Park or on its boundary. 

When the reservoirs were built at the beginning of the 20th Century the then water boards 
bought up whole catchment areas in order to guarantee the quality and quantity of supply 
and much of this land is now afforested.  Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) now owns 
5197 hectares of land within the National Park which is equivalent to 4% of our total area.  
The National Park area supplies roughly 50% of DCWWs water supply and 90% of water 
consumed within the South Wales area including the strategically significant cities of 
Swansea and Cardiff.  The majority of licensed abstractions are for public water supply, but 
water also serves industry, agriculture and domestic use. These water bodies also attract a 
growing number of avid outdoor enthusiasts interested in angling, boating, canoeing, nature 
study, relaxation, and other activities. Despite plentiful rainfall in the region, predicted shifts 
in precipitation associated with climate change are likely to put more strain on water 
resources, particularly during summer months. For this reason, BBNPA is strongly 
supportive of the plan’s proposals for abstraction reduction, in keeping with our extant 
policy position within the Local Development Plan.  Indeed, at time of drafting the LDP 
(2010) the Authority attempted to introduce ‘Water Conservation Zones’ – spatially 
defined areas where we were proposing the need for levels of water conservation in new 
development beyond those required by building regulations. Unfortunately, regulatory 
support for such a policy position was not forthcoming at that time.  We would be keen to 
revisit this in the development of LDP2 and would welcome support from yourselves and 
DCWW in the implementation.  

Water quality issues and the socio-economic and environmental burden.

The condition of the Park’s rivers and wetlands has been vastly compromised by a series of 
environmental and social processes culminating in excess nutrients in watercourses. 

Three of the Rivers within the National Park are designated as Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs), The Tywi, the Usk and the Wye.  In December 2020 NRW published 
details of the phosphate levels for the River Wye in their ‘Phosphate Compliance 
Assessment’.  This showed that 67% of the river system had phosphate levels above target 
levels with the result that an immediate stop was put to all regulated activity which would 
increase phosphate levels in the river catchment. The sector most significantly impacted by 
this new evidence is the development industry, where the building of new housing, schools, 
community facilities, offices and shops is effectively on hold until the river system is 
returned to ecological health.  Further to this, on the 20th January 2021 NRW published full 
details of phosphate levels in all Welsh Riverine SACS.  This founds that 88% of water 
bodies in the Usk SAC catchment failed to meet phosphate targets.  The Usk is the worst 
performing SAC river in Wales in this regard, and the only river where there are extensive 
failures in the headwaters.  The river Usk in particular is heavily abstracted for water supply, 

Page 50



compounding phosphate issues by leading to higher concentration of nutrients within the 
river system.
Consequently, the nutrient levels within our river systems are not only an ecological crisis, 
but a social one because with constraint on housing supply, more and more of our young 
people are being priced out of the housing market as demand for the existing stock pushes 
prices beyond local reach.  

Many are turning to DCWW to up levels of investment within the catchment to increase 
phosphate stripping at WwTWs.  The National Park Authority does not see this as a long-
term solution to the crisis, due to the significant cost of such schemes both in terms of 
money and carbon and because the apportioned contribution made by WwTWs to excess 
phosphate load in river SACs is relatively low compared to other sources.  

The NPA has reviewed the evidence2, including from international examples3 and has 
concluded that a more sustainable and cost-effective solution is to implement catchment-
scale water management by the restoration of functioning peatlands, wetlands and 
woodlands in the uplands and lowland floodplains, and developing and implementing 
catchment sensitive farming. Both the quality and quantity of water resources are dependent 
on the sustainable management of upland soils and vegetation. Managing surface waters at 
source can alleviate flooding, improve water quality and quantity by ‘slowing the flow’, 
improve soil condition and promote biodiversity.

Whereas we recognise this plan does not address issues of water quality, it is difficult to 
discuss a future water resource plan in isolation from the multiple challenges our water 
environment faces, and its interaction with socio-economic processes.  We believe there is 
significant need for further areas of policy integration to address these challenges.  Given 
the future strain on water resource as predicted by climate change scenarios, the continuing 
pressure for housing and economic growth and the context of Climate and Biodiversity 
emergencies, there is a need for this plan to set a more holistic vision for securing the 
sustainable management of water resources.  Such policy integration should address the 
following policy areas in addition to water resource management.

2See for example
(Everard, 2004) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.10.019
(Macleod, Scholefield, & Haygarth, 2007) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.12.029
(Tinch, 2009) https://ieep.eu/uploads/articles/attachments/e4fd1a37-3de4-4ae9-bde8-
7d2939ee095f/ukscamp_casestudy_final_Aug_09.pdf?v=63664509723 
 (Tinch) http://besafe.pensoft.net/img/uplf/Catchment%20Management%20in%20the%20UK-
%20%20a%20support%20for%20biodiversity%20and%20ecosystem%20services%20.pdf

3 See for example
http://blogs.edf.org/markets/2017/11/07/how-and-why-farmers-in-the-catskills-protect-new-york-citys-drinking-
water/

Page 51

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.10.019
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.12.029
https://ieep.eu/uploads/articles/attachments/e4fd1a37-3de4-4ae9-bde8-7d2939ee095f/ukscamp_casestudy_final_Aug_09.pdf?v=63664509723
https://ieep.eu/uploads/articles/attachments/e4fd1a37-3de4-4ae9-bde8-7d2939ee095f/ukscamp_casestudy_final_Aug_09.pdf?v=63664509723
http://besafe.pensoft.net/img/uplf/Catchment%20Management%20in%20the%20UK-%20%20a%20support%20for%20biodiversity%20and%20ecosystem%20services%20.pdf
http://besafe.pensoft.net/img/uplf/Catchment%20Management%20in%20the%20UK-%20%20a%20support%20for%20biodiversity%20and%20ecosystem%20services%20.pdf
http://blogs.edf.org/markets/2017/11/07/how-and-why-farmers-in-the-catskills-protect-new-york-citys-drinking-water/
http://blogs.edf.org/markets/2017/11/07/how-and-why-farmers-in-the-catskills-protect-new-york-citys-drinking-water/


- Agriculture – to ensure that farming for water quality forms a critical part of future agri-
environment regimes

- Planning and development – to ensure that all new development embeds sustainable 
drainage and sustainable water usage 

- Environmental – to ensure that nature recovery programmes are funded to target ecological 
health of the water environment

Support for Environmental Destination 

We note and welcome the plan’s focus on the development of environmental destination.
We share your ambition to see our rivers and lakes thrive whilst creating natural spaces 
that people can enjoy.  

However, we do not regard ‘business as usual’ and the first two possible levels of 
environmental ambition as viable given known pressures on the water environment (i.e. 
rivers, streams, lakes, underground sources). Current regulatory needs and standards are 
not being met, so Level 1 and Level 2 will only embed failures against existing regulatory 
standards (e.g. JNCC’s 2016 UK common standard for phosphate in riverine SACs). 

Therefore, we propose that further interventions must be made to ensure current 
standards of environmental protection are met, and the plan also prioritises some water 
environments for enhanced protection for the future (Level 3).

We welcome the four strands of this work and wish to provide comment on the first strand 
– creating catchment solutions to gain more immediate benefits with particular reference to 
the opportunity to identify areas for improvement.

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is currently working in partnership with 
DCWW on the development of the Mega Catchment project.  There is significant potential 
to utilise this partnership to develop and implement landscape scale projects to support: 

- Restoration of ecosystem function, resilience and connectivity
- Water quality and quantity
- Reduction in costs of water treatment
- Nutrient management
- Climate change adaptation through carbon sequestration Recreation and landscape amenity 

improvements 
- Reversal of biodiversity decline and nature recovery
- Flood risk mitigation and alleviation

We would be keen to work with yourselves and DCWW to develop this opportunity for 
inclusion within your final adopted Water Resources Plan.  

We note your questions around the appropriateness or otherwise of raising water 
consumers’ bills to address funding environmental destination objectives.  We would like to 
highlight that experimental data within the National Park highlights high levels of water 
poverty within the region, suggesting that our communities already pay a significant amount 
for their water supply.  To that end we question whether there are alternative funding 
sources available rather than passing the full costs direct to consumers.  We query whether 

Page 52



Sustainable Catchment programmes can be funded via the ‘polluter pays’ principle, including 
utilising levying the development industry as part of charges for new connections and/or 
catchment markets for nutrient trading.

We trust the above comments are of value in the development of the final plan.  As stated 
above, we would be keen to work with yourselves to strengthen policy on water usage in 
new development and catchment scale restoration utilising nature-based solutions to 
address water quality and quantity issues.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones

Prif Weithredwr/ Chief Executive
Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

catherine.mealing-jones@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Everard, M. (2004). Investing in sustainable catchments. Science of The Total Environment, 324(1), 1-24. 
doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.10.019

Macleod, C. J. A., Scholefield, D., & Haygarth, P. M. (2007). Integration for sustainable catchment 
management. Science of The Total Environment, 373(2), 591-602. 
doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.12.029

Page 53

mailto:catherine.mealing-jones@beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.10.019
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.12.029


Page 54



Affordable Housing Strategy

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 25th March 2022

Report Author Naomi Davies 

Job title Planning Officer (Policy) 

Contact Details Naomi.davies@beacons-npa.gov.uk
01874 620421

Purpose of Report The adopted Affordable Housing Strategy (September 2019) 
has been updated to reflect the most up to date housing 
needs data and funds held by the Authority. Officers are 
proposing that the enclosed amended Affordable Housing 
Strategy replace the current edition of the Strategy 
(September 2019).

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The Local Development Plan has been subject to SIA, the 
Affordable Housing Strategy as supplementary planning 
guidance to LDP is considered to be in conformity with the 
findings of this assessment.

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 Affordable Housing Strategy (Edition 4, 
March 2022)

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) That members endorse the Affordable Housing 
Strategy (edition 4, March 2022) for use in the 
processing of commuted sums collected by the 
Authority for the purposes of providing 
Affordable Housing.

b) That the previous edition of the Affordable 
Housing Strategy (edition 3, September 2019) be 
revoked).

c) That members authorise the Authority to 
transfer the collected Affordable Housing 
contribution funds to the allocated Unitary 
Authorities, as follows:  

Page 55

Agenda Item 9

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Affordable-Housing-Strategy-050819TN.pdf


 £321,818.00 to Monmouthshire County 
Council, 

 £234,939.20 to Powys County Council, and 
 £89,172.00 to Carmarthenshire County 

Council. 

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Affordable Housing Strategy for the Brecon Beacons National Park is one of the key 
documents in the implementation of the NPAs Affordable Housing Policy.  The strategy is 
intended to ensure that all money collected for the provision of affordable housing within the 
National Park area is spent in accordance with the greatest areas of housing need.  The Strategy 
is a joint project between the Authority and the Strategic Housing Authorities of Powys, 
Monmouthshire and Carmarthenshire.

The Affordable Housing Strategy for the Brecon Beacons National Park was adopted for use by 
resolution of the NPA on the 10th February 2017 (edition 1). The NPA is committed to keeping 
the Strategy up to date to ensure that the future allocation of monies is in accord with the 
greatest housing need. Accordingly, the strategy has been subject to further adopted updates as 
of the 22nd June 2018 (edition 2) and 3rd September 2019 (edition 3).

The Authority has continued to collect funds from qualifying development, and it has therefore 
become necessary to update the Adopted Affordable Housing Strategy for a fourth time. As 
such, officers are seeking Members approval for the updated strategy provided at Enclosure 1 
to this report.

1.2 Proposals

The 1st edition of the Affordable Housing Strategy (endorsed by NPA 2017) sets out that 
commuted sums towards the provision of affordable housing are held by the National Park 
Authority in an ear marked reserve for the provision of affordable housing. This reserve is 
referred to as The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Affordable Housing Fund or AHF.  

The strategy set out that monies from this fund will be released to eligible organisations for the 
development of new affordable housing. 

On the 25th June 2019, members agreed to amend this process to enable the transfer of all 
existing and future funds to the unitary authority from which monies have been/will be 
collected. This transfer is to be enabled without the need for the scrutiny of the Members 
Affordable Housing Working Group, or need for application to the fund. Members will recall 
that the transfer of funds will be controlled by a Service Level Agreement (SLA). In order to 
facilitate the implementation of the Service Level Agreement and the transfer of funds, the 
terms of the Affordable Housing Strategy were amended and adopted in September 2019. The 

Page 56



proposed updated Affordable Housing Strategy (March 2022) does not amend the terms of the 
Strategy and these remain as previously agreed. 

In accordance with the principles of the agreed SLA, the NPA’s Affordable Housing Strategy will 
remain the principal document in determining the priority areas for spending funds collected by 
the NPA for the provision of Affordable Housing. The Unitary Authorities have agreed to 
spend monies in accordance with defined areas of need, and to provide quarterly reports to the 
Authority in relation to how the monies have been spent.

The Strategy has been amended to reflect the most up to date housing needs data held by the 
authority. It is proposed that the Strategy will continue to be updated to reflect changes in 
housing need on a yearly basis.

1.3 Implications

The updates to the Strategy are necessary to reflect the most up to date housing needs data 
and funds held by the Authority. Implementation of the strategy will ensure that the Authority 
retains strategic control of the areas where monies are spent, in accordance with our 
understanding of the affordable housing need in the area.

1.4 Risk

As the authorized collecting Authority, the liability for the spending of monies collected via 
s106 agreements will remain with the Authority regardless of transfer to the Housing 
Authority.  It is necessary to have a clear statement in relation to the anticipated areas monies 
should be spent to meet the housing need of the National Park.

1.5 Conclusion
The amended Affordable Housing Strategy is necessary to:

(a) Provide an up-to-date assessment of the priority areas for spending, in accordance with the 
most recent Housing Waiting List Data.

(b) Provide a total sum of the funds collected by the Authority to date and the breakdown of 
where the collected funds will be transferred to via a Service Level Agreement.  

Officers are seeking approval for the amended Strategy to replace the existing document for 
use in the spending of monies for the provision of affordable housing.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) That members endorse the Affordable Housing Strategy (edition 4) for use in the 
processing of commuted sums collected by the Authority for the purposes of 
providing Affordable Housing.

Page 57



b) That the previous edition of the Affordable Housing Strategy (edition 3, 
September 2019) be revoked.

c) That members authorise the Authority to transfer the collected Affordable 
Housing contribution funds to the allocated Unitary Authorities, as follows:  
 £321,818.00 to Monmouthshire County Council, 
 £234,939.20 to Powys County Council, and 
 £89,172.00 to Carmarthenshire County Council.

Page 58



BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY       

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
STRATEGY

March 2022

Page 59



Contents

1.0 Introduction: the Brecon Beacons National Park Affordable Housing Strategy (“the Strategy”). ........2

2.0 Proposal ..........................................................................................................................................................3

3.0 Monitoring and Review................................................................................................................................1

Appendix A – Copy of a Service Level Agreement............................................................................................1

Appendix B – Allocation of funds to date. .........................................................................................................13

Page 60



1.0 Introduction: the Brecon Beacons National Park Affordable Housing 
Strategy (“the Strategy”).  

1.1 Money for affordable housing is collected as planning obligations from development in 
accordance with the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (adopted 2013) 
and Supplementary Planning Guidance for Policy 28: Affordable Housing Contributions 
(September 2019).

1.2 It is recognised that the housing allocations within the Local Development Plan are not 
sufficient by themselves to provide all the affordable housing needed within the National 
Park area. It is therefore the strategy of the National Park Authority, working with our 
partners, to maximise all opportunities to contribute to the provision of affordable housing. 
One of the ways we attempt to achieve this aim, is by requiring a contribution towards 
affordable housing from all development which results in the net gain of dwellings, in areas 
where it is viable to do so.

1.3 Where such a contribution would be less than one whole unit, the obligation is met through 
the provision of a financial contribution (commuted sum). Commuted sums towards the 
provision of affordable housing are collected by the National Park as the Planning Authority. 
The funds are then transferred to the relevant housing authority for the provision of 
Affordable Housing.

1.4 In allocating the monies, consideration must be given to where such monies were collected.  
Service Level Agreements (“agreements”) are now in place between the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority and each relevant Housing Authority regarding the distribution of 
this money. Each of the agreements is appended for reference. 

1.5 In entering the agreements, Housing Authorities committed to the money being spent on 
affordable housing projects in areas of priority need as defined in v3 of the National Park 
Affordable Housing Strategy (September 2019). This is shown in Table 1 below. 

Table 1. Areas of priority need for Affordable Housing (September 2019).

Housing Authority 
Area

Need Priority Area for Spending Affordable Housing 
Submarket Area

Powys Very 
High 

Brecon Brecon and Rural 
Hinterland

High Crickhowell Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

High Hay Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Carmarthen High Dyffryn Brecon and Rural 
Hinterland

Monmouthshire Very 
High

Llanfoist Fawr Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Very 
High

Llanelly Hay Abergavenny 
Hay and Crickhowell

High Crucorney Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Rhondda Cynnon Taff No priority area identified Heads of the Valleys 
and Rural South

Merthyr Tydfil No priority area identified Heads of the Valleys 
and Rural South

Page 61



Torfaen No priority area identified Heads of the Valleys 
and Rural South

Table 1. Areas of priority need as defined in v3 of the National Park Affordable Housing Strategy 
(September 2019)

1.6 In the absence of an affordable housing project in the priority need areas shown in Table 1, 
the agreements define a cascade approach for spending the money as follows: 

 Settlement in the National Park (reflecting Table 1), if no suitable schemes available 
then; 

 Community/Town council area in the National Park (reflecting Table 1), if no suitable 
schemes available then;  

 Adjoining Town/Community council areas within the National Park area, if no suitable 
schemes available then;  

 Council administrative area within National Park, if no suitable schemes available then;  
 Affordable submarket area, if no suitable schemes available then;  
 Adjoining Town/Community Councils immediately outside of the National Park area 

within or immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary where the settlement is 
partially inside the National Park. 

1.7 Housing Authorities have also agreed to provide quarterly reports on how the transferred 
funds for affordable housing are being used. The reports are made available to the National 
Park authority’s Planning and Rights of Way Committee and contribute to the Local 
Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report.

2.0 Proposal

2.1 Utilising the latest housing waiting list data and Community/Town Council areas, housing 
need has been mapped across the National Park. The need is categorised in six bands which 
are described in Table 2 below and shown in Figure 1.

Table 2. Bands of housing need by Community/Town Council area in the National Park.

Category Colour 
on 
map

Number of people on waiting list

No known need Not known/less than 1
Low need Between 1 and 3 people
Moderate need Between 4 and 20 people
High need Between 21 and 70 people
Very High need Between 71 and 150+ people

Table 2. Bands of housing need by Community/Town Council area in the National Park.

2.2 Having reviewed the Figure 1 with each of the Housing Authorities, it is proposed that an 
updated National Park Affordable Housing Strategy is prepared. The information in Table 3, 
below would replace that in Table 1 of this report. This would not amend the cascade 
approach enabling the money to be spent in the absence of an affordable housing project in 
the priority need areas.

Page 62



Table 3. Proposed areas of priority need for Affordable Housing (December 2021).

Housing Authority 
Area

Need Priority Area for Spending Affordable Housing 
Submarket Area

Powys Brecon (inc. Llanfaes) Brecon and Rural 
Hinterland

Crickhowell Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Hay Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Carmarthenshire Llandovery Brecon and Rural 
Hinterland

Quarter Bach Brecon and Rural 
Hinterland

Monmouthshire Llanfoist Fawr Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Llanelly Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Crucorney Abergavenny Hay and 
Crickhowell

Rhondda Cynon Taff No priority area identified Heads of the Valleys 
and Rural South

Merthyr Tydfil No priority area identified Heads of the Valleys 
and Rural South

Torfaen No priority area identified Heads of the Valleys 
and Rural South

Page 63



Figure 1. Map showing housing need by Community/Town Council area in the National Park in December 2021

P
age 64



3.0 Monitoring and Review

3.1 In order to ensure that the information within this document remains relevant this 
document will be reviewed annually. 

Appendix A – Copy of a Service Level Agreement 

DATED 2019 

(1) BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
(2) [                    ] COUNCIL 

Service Level Agreement in relation to the distribution of funding collected 
for affordable housing 

Page 65



Contents
1. Definitions and Interpretation 3

2. Duties of the National Park Authority 6

3. Duties of the Housing Authority 7

4. Reporting Obligations of the Housing Authority 8

5. Confidentiality 8

6. Freedom of Information9

7. Duration 9

8. Termination 9

9. Intellectual Property Rights 10

10. Dispute Resolution 10

11. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 11

12. Entire Agreement 11

13. Severability 11

14. Execution 11

15. Governing Law 12

Page 66



THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE ON  2019

BETWEEN: 

(1) Brecon Beacons National Park Authority of Plas y FFynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon LD3 7HP (“the 
National Park Authority”); and

(2) [Name of Council] of [Address of Housing Authority] (“the Housing Authority”)

WHEREAS

A The National Park Authority is the Local Planning Authority for that municipal area of the Housing 
Authority that is located within the Brecon Beacons National Park.

B The Housing Authority has statutory responsibility for the provision of housing in the relevant] area 
within the Brecon Beacons National Park.

C The National Park Authority has collected finance pursuant to agreements entered into under the 
power in section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

D The National Park Authority has decided to use the power in section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 to enter into an agreement with 
the Housing Authority under which the Housing Authority shall use finance collected by the National 
Park Authority to provide support for affordable housing projects.  The National Park Authority has 
decided to enter into such an agreement to further the National Park Authority’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy.  

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS

1. Definitions and Interpretation

1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation apply in this Agreement:

“Affordable Housing Fund” the fund to which monies paid by the 
National Park Authority to the 
Housing Authority in accordance 
with this Agreement are designated 
in accordance with clause 3.2 of this 
Agreement

“Affordable Housing Project” a project to develop and make 
available in the area of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park (i) housing 
that is accessible to persons who 
cannot afford market housing and (ii) 
complies with the terms of the 
Original Agreements in relation to 
the use of Commuted Sums.

“Affordable Housing Strategy” the affordable housing strategy 
adopted by Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority (as 
amended) 

“Commencement Date” [                                                ] 2019

Page 67



“Commuted Sums” The sum of money paid in lieu of the 
provision of affordable housing by a 
developer or landowner to the 
National Park Authority under the 
Original Agreements

“Confidential Information” all Know-How and other information 
relating to the business affairs or 
methods of the National Park 
Authority or the Housing Authority 
which is contained in or discernible 
in any form whatsoever (including 
without limitation software, data, 
drawings, films, documents and 
computer-readable media) whether 
or not marked or designated as 
confidential or proprietary or which is 
disclosed orally or by demonstration 
and which is described at the time of 
disclosure as confidential or is 
clearly so from its content or the 
context of disclosure

“Eligible Body” a body which is eligible under the 
Affordable Housing Strategy to apply 
for funding for an Affordable Housing 
Project

“Government Authority” any government (de jure or de facto) 
of the United Kingdom or any 
political sub-division of the United 
Kingdom or any local jurisdiction of 
the United Kingdom; and any 
governmental authority or statutory 
legal fiscal monetary or 
administrative body which operates 
or has jurisdiction directly or 
indirectly in the United Kingdom; or  
any instrumentality commission 
court or agency of any of the above 
however constituted; or any 
association organisation or 
institution of which any of the above 
is a member or to whose jurisdiction 
any of the above is subject or in 
whose activities any of the above is 
a participant;

“Intellectual Property Rights” patents, rights to inventions 
copyright and related rights trade-
marks trade names and domain 
names rights in get-up rights in 
goodwill or to sue for passing off 
rights in designs rights in computer 
software database rights in 
confidential information (including 
Know-How and trade secrets) and 
any other intellectual property rights, 
in each case whether registered or 

Page 68



unregistered and including all 
applications (or rights to apply) for 
and renewals or extensions of such 
rights and all similar or equivalent 
rights or forms of protection which 
may now or in the future subsist in 
any part of the world

“Know-How” Information data know-how or 
experience whether patentable or 
not and including but not limited to 
any technical and commercial 
information relating to research; 
design development manufacture 
use or sale;

“Local Planning Authority” as defined in the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990;

“Original Agreements” such agreements made under s106 
of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 between a developer/land 
owner and the National Park 
Authority which concerns 
development that falls within the 
municipal boundary of the Housing 
Authority

“Party” each of the National Park Authority 
and the Housing Authority as the 
context requires and “Parties” 
means both of them;

“Working Day” a day which is not a Saturday 
Sunday or public holiday in England 
and Wales;

1.2 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this 
Agreement.

1.3 Words importing one gender include all other genders and words importing the singular include the 
plural and vice versa.

1.4 A reference in this Agreement to any clause, paragraph or schedule is, except where it is expressly 
stated to the contrary, a reference to a clause or paragraph of or schedule to this Agreement.

1.5 Any reference to this Agreement or to any other document unless otherwise specified shall include 
any variation, amendment or supplements to such document expressly permitted by this Agreement 
or otherwise agreed in writing between the relevant parties.

1.6 Words preceding “include”, “includes”, “including” and “included” shall be construed without limitation 
by the words which follow those words unless inconsistent with the context and the rule of 
interpretation known as “eiusdem generis” shall not apply.

1.7 The Schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have the same force and effect as if expressly 
set out in the body of this Agreement and references to this Agreement includes the Schedules.

1.8 A reference to a recital or clause or schedule or part of a schedule is, unless the context otherwise 
requires, a reference to a recital to or a clause of or a schedule or a part of a schedule to this 

Page 69



agreement, and references to this agreement include its schedules, and recitals and references in a 
schedule to paragraphs are to paragraphs of that schedule.

1.9 References to “the Parties” shall be to the parties to this Agreement.

1.10 Any provision which provides that an action or thing may not be taken or done by one Party without 
the “consent” or “approval” of the other Party will be deemed to provide also that:

(a) the Party seeking to take the action or do the thing in question shall request the consent or 
approval of the other Party in writing and provide promptly and in sufficient time for the other 
Party to consider it, all information reasonably necessary for the other Party to make an 
informed decision as to whether or not consent or approval should be granted;

(b) the Party receiving the request for consent or approval shall consider it in good faith; and

(c) the consent or approval must be given in writing and the relevant action or thing may not be 
done unless and until the consent or approval has been granted;

(d) a reference to “the National Park Authority” or “the Housing Authority”  or any other person 
includes its (and any subsequent) successor(s) in title and permitted transferee(s) or permitted 
assignee(s).

1.11 Any reference to a “person” shall be construed as a reference to an individual, firm, company, 
corporation, government state or agency of a state or any association or partnership (whether or not 
having a separate legal entity) of two or more of the foregoing.

1.12 A reference to any document includes that document as amended, varied, novated or supplemented 
from time to time.

1.13 A reference to law includes without limitation any (1) statute, decree, constitution, regulation, order, 
judgment or directive of any Government Authority (2) treaty, pact or other agreement to which any 
Government Authority is a signatory or party and/or (3) judicial or administrative interpretation or 
application thereof and, in each such case, is a reference to the same as amended, substituted or re-
enacted from time to time.

2. Duties of the National Park Authority

2.1 The National Park Authority shall pay to the Housing Authority the Commuted Sums collected by the 
National Park Authority pursuant to the Original Agreements for Affordable Housing Projects. 

2.2 If the Housing Authority returns to the National Park Authority funds paid to the Housing Authority 
under the terms of this Agreement because the Housing Authority has failed to use the funds with five 
(5) years of receipt of payment of those funds to the Housing Authority the National Park Authority 
shall in the exercise of its powers use reasonable endeavours to use those funds to address the 
greatest level of need it has identified in the area of the Brecon Beacons National Park provided 
always that such use complies with the terms of the Original Agreements. 

3. Duties of the Housing Authority

3.1 The Housing Authority shall use any Commuted Sums paid to it by the National Park Authority under 
the terms of this Agreement for the purpose of an Affordable Housing Project.

3.2 The Housing Authority shall designate the Commuted Sums paid to it by the National Park Authority 
under the terms of this Agreement as the Housing Authority’s Affordable Housing Fund.

3.3 The Housing Authority shall invite Eligible Bodies to apply for funding from the Housing Authority’s 
Affordable Housing Fund in respect to an Affordable Housing Project.

3.4 The Housing Authority shall evaluate an Affordable Housing Project against the criteria of:

Page 70



(a) Appropriateness of the application to meet housing needs in the area;

(b) Deliverability of the scheme;

(c) The Affordable Housing Strategy;

3.5 The Housing Authority shall prioritise Affordable Housing Projects in the priority need areas in the 
relevant Affordable Housing Submarket Area as set out in para 4.5 of the Affordable Housing Strategy 
dated September 2019 and in the absence of such scheme in the priority need areas then used in 
order of priority in the following areas:

(a) Settlement, if no suitable schemes available then;

(b)  Community/Town council area, if no suitable schemes available then; 

(c) Adjoining Town/Community council areas within the National Park area, if no suitable schemes 
available then; 

(d) Council administrative area within National Park, if no suitable schemes available then; 

(e) Affordable submarket area, if no suitable schemes available then; 

(f) Adjoining Town/Community Councils immediately outside of the National Park area within or 
immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary where the settlement is partially inside the 
National Park.

3.6 Subject to clause 3.7 and clause 3.8 the Housing Authority may pay funding from the Housing 
Authority’s Affordable Housing Fund to Eligible Bodies whose applications the Housing Authority 
assesses as satisfactory against the criteria set out in clause 3.4 under the terms which requires the 
Eligible Body to comply with the equivalent reporting obligations as set out in clause 4 of this 
Agreement and requires the return of Commuted Sums to the Housing Authority where the Affordable 
Funding Project is not delivered in accordance with such terms.

3.7 The Housing Authority shall award funding from the Affordable Housing Fund based on priority areas 
as identified in the Affordable Housing Strategy of the National Park Authority.

3.8 Before making any payment of funding from the Housing Authority’s Affordable Housing Fund the 
Housing Authority shall notify the National Park Authority in writing of its intention to award funding 
and shall provide the National Park Authority with the following details:

(a) The name of the scheme to which funding has been awarded.

(b) The location of the scheme.

(c) The number of units to be provided by the scheme.

(d) The tenure of the units to be provided by the scheme.

(e) The name of the housing provider responsible for the scheme.

(f) The project timescales for delivery;  and

(g) the Original Agreements from which part of the Affordable Housing Fund the payment 
originates.  

3.9 The Housing Authority shall use any Commuted Sums paid to it by the National Park Authority under 
the terms of this Agreement no later than five (5) years after receipt of the payment from the landowner 
or developer to the National Park Authority.  If any Commuted Sum is not used within such period 
then the sum paid shall be returned to the National Park Authority together with interest accrued at a 

Page 71



rate of 1.5% per annum above the Bank of England Base Rate or such rate specified in the Original 
Agreements (which is the greater). 

3.10 The Housing Authority shall exercise its powers to enforce the terms of the funding of the Affordable 
Housing Project to ensure the affordable housing is delivered or the return of the Commuted Sums to 
the Housing Authority when such fall due.

3.11 The Housing Authority shall indemnity the National Park Authority against all liabilities, costs, 
expenses, damages and losses (including indirect, direct and consequential) and reasonable legal 
and professional costs suffered by the National Park Authority arising out or in connection with the 
Housing Authority breach or non-performance of this agreement including any claim against the 
National Park Authority under the Original Agreements to the extent that such claim arises out of the 
breach or non-performance of this agreement by the Housing Authority.

4. Reporting Obligations of the Housing Authority

4.1 The Housing Authority shall provide the National Park Authority with a written report every quarter 
which reports on the use of the Affordable Housing Fund.  The report shall be submitted to the National 
Park Authority’s Planning and Heritage Manager and the National Park Authority shall present the 
report to its Members Affordable Housing Group.

4.2 The Housing Authority shall provide the National Park Authority with a written report every year which 
reports on housing needs in the area of the Housing Authority.  The report shall be a summary of data 
on the Housing Authority’s housing waiting list that records details or persons who are classed to be 
in housing need.  The report shall be submitted to the National Park Authority’s Planning and Heritage 
Manager on 1 April each year for the duration of this Agreement.

5. Confidentiality

5.1 The Parties shall keep confidential the Confidential Information of the Parties and shall use all 
reasonable endeavours to prevent their employees and agents from making any disclosure to any 
person of the Confidential Information of the Parties other than as permitted under the provisions of 
this Agreement.  Each Party shall not use or disclose other than as permitted under the provisions of 
this Agreement any Confidential Information about the business of or belonging to the other Party or 
a third party which has come to its attention as a result of or in connection with this Agreement.

5.2 The obligation in clause shall not apply to:

(a) Any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by persons engaged in the 
performance of their obligations under this Agreement.

(b) Any matter which a party can demonstrate is already generally available and in the public 
domain otherwise than as a result of a breach of this clause.

(c) Any disclosure which is required by any law (including any order or a court of competent 
jurisdiction) any statutory obligation or the rules of any stock exchange or governmental or 
regulatory authority having the force or law.

(d) Any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the possession of the disclosing 
Party without restrictions as to its use prior to its disclosure by the disclosing Party.

(e) Any disclosure which is required or recommended by the rules of any governmental or 
regulatory authority including any guidance from time to time as to openness and disclosure 
of information by public bodies.

(f) Any disclosure which is necessary to be disclosed to provide relevant information to any 
insurance broker in connection with obtaining any insurance required by this Agreement.

(g) Any disclosure for the purpose of the examination and certification of a Party’s accounts.

Page 72



5.3 Where disclosure is permitted under clauses 5.2(a), 5.2(f), or 5.2(g) the recipient of the information 
shall be placed under the same obligation of confidentiality as that contained in this Agreement by the 
disclosing Party.

6. Freedom of Information

6.1 The Parties acknowledge that the National Park Authority and the Housing Authority are subject to 
the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 and each Party shall assist and co-operate with the other Party to enable the other 
Party to comply with these information disclosure requirements and shall provide all necessary 
assistance as reasonably requested by the other Party to enable the other Party to respond to a 
request for information within the time for compliance set out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 
5 of the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

7. Duration

7.1 This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date and subject to termination in 
accordance with clause 8 shall continue for a period of two years.

7.2 The Agreement may be extended by the agreement of the Parties.

7.3 The Agreement shall be reviewed every year as soon as is practicable after the anniversary of the 
Commencement Date.

8. Termination

8.1 The National Park Authority may terminate this Agreement immediately on giving the Housing 
Authority written notice for a breach of the Agreement by the Housing Authority which breach has not 
been remedied by the Housing Authority within thirty days of written notice by the National Park 
Authority.

8.2 This Agreement may be terminated after six months after the Commencement Date:

(a) By the agreement of the Parties; OR

(b) By one Party giving the other Party one month’s notice in writing.

8.3 If this Agreement is terminated in accordance with this clause 8 the duties  and obligations of the 
Housing Authority under clauses 3 and 4 shall continue in force for such duration until the Affordable 
Housing Fund no longer contains monies or the Commuted Sums have been returned back to the 
National Park and the National Park Authority shall have the right to monitor the use of funding 
provided to the Housing Authority in accordance with this Agreement for such time until the funding 
has been used or returned to the National Park Authority in accordance with clause 3.9.

8.4 In the event of termination or expiry of this Agreement clauses 2.2, 3.9, 3.9, 3.10, 5, 6 and 8.3 shall 
continue to apply.

9. Intellectual Property Rights

9.1 The Intellectual Property Rights in all reports documents and information prepared by the National 
Park Authority or any of its officers pursuant to this Agreement shall vest in the National Park Authority.

10. Dispute Resolution

10.1 The Parties to this Agreement undertake and agree to pursue a positive approach towards dispute 
resolution which seeks to identify a solution at the lowest operational level that is appropriate to the 
subject of the dispute and which avoids legal proceedings and maintains a strong working relationship 
between the Parties.

Page 73



10.2 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with 
this clause 10.

10.3 All disputes, claims or differences between the Parties arising out of or in connection with this 
Agreement or its subject matter or formation, including any question regarding its existence, validity 
or termination, (a “Dispute”) shall, at the written request of any Party be referred by the National Park 
Authority to its Chief Executive and by the Housing Authority to [Housing Authority to provide details 
of most senior officer].

10.4 If the Chief Executive of the National Park Authority and the [          ] of the Housing Authority do not 
agree a resolution of the Dispute within ten (10) Working Days of the date of service of any such 
request, either Party may require the other Party by notice in writing to attempt to settle the Dispute 
by mediation in accordance with the Centre for Dispute Resolution (CEDR) Model Mediation 
Procedure.  Within five Working Days of the date of service of such notice the Parties shall each 
propose a mediator and shall seek to agree as to the selection of a mediator.

10.5 If the Parties are unable to agree on a mediator within ten Working Days of date of service of the 
notice referred to in clause or the mediator agreed upon is unable or unwilling to act and the Parties 
cannot agree upon a substitute, any party may apply to CEDR to appoint a mediator as soon as 
practicable.

10.6 The Parties shall within five Working Days of the appointment of the mediator (the “Mediator”) meet 
with him in order to agree a programme for the exchange of any relevant information and the structure 
to be adopted for the negotiations.  If considered appropriate, the Parties may at any stage seek 
assistance from CEDR to provide guidance on a suitable procedure.

10.7 All negotiations connected with the Dispute shall be conducted in strict confidence and without 
prejudice to the rights of the Parties in any future proceedings.

10.8 If the Parties reach agreement on the resolution of the Dispute, such agreement shall be reduced to 
writing and, once it is signed by the Parties or their duly authorised representatives, shall be and 
remain binding upon the Parties.

10.9 The costs and expenses of the mediation shall be borne equally by the Parties.  Each Party shall bear 
its own costs and expenses of its participation in the mediation.

10.10 If mediation fails to secure a resolution within ten Working Days of the Mediator being appointed, the 
Parties shall attempt to settle the Dispute by arbitration under the Rules of the London Court of 
International Arbitration (which Rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this clause) 
and otherwise in accordance with clause 10.11.

10.11 In the event that an arbitration is commenced pursuant to clause 10.10 the Parties agree that:

(a) the tribunal shall consist of one arbitrator who is to be a chartered accountant who is a member 
of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) if the dispute relates to a 
financial matter or a solicitor of at least ten years standing as a qualified solicitor if the dispute 
relates to any other matter;

(b) the place of the arbitration shall be Cardiff; 

(c) the decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the Parties (save in the case of 
manifest error).

11. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

11.1 This Agreement does not and is not intended to confer any contractual benefit on any person pursuant 
to the terms of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

Page 74



12. Entire Agreement

12.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes and 
extinguishes all previous agreements promises assurances warranties representations and 
understandings between them whether written or oral relating to its subject matter.  Nothing in this 
Agreement shall exclude liability for fraudulent misrepresentation or any other liability in consequence 
of any fraudulent act.

13. Severability

13.1 If at any time any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal invalid or unenforceable in any 
respect that shall not affect or impair the legality validity or enforceability of any other provision of this 
Agreement.

14. Execution

14.1 This Agreement may be executed and delivered in any number of counterparts but will only be 
effective when both Parties have executed at least one counterpart.  Each counterpart of this 
document shall constitute an original of this document but the counterparts together constitute one 
and the same document and together shall have the same effect as if each Party had signed the 
same document.

15. Governing Law

15.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England and 
Wales.

15.2 The National Park Authority and the Housing Authority irrevocably agree that any legal action or 
proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement may be brought and enforced in the courts of 
England and Wales and irrevocably submit to such jurisdiction.

IN WITNESS whereof the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date set out at the start of this 
Agreement.

EXECUTED for and on behalf of 
BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

SIGNATURE …………………………………………………………………………………..

NAME

POSITION

EXECUTED for and on behalf of
[HOUSING AUTHORITY] COUNCIL

SIGNATURE …………………………………………………………………………………..

NAME

POSITION

SIGNATURE …………………………………………………………………………………..

NAME

Page 75



POSITION

In the presence of

WITNESS SIGNATURE ……………………………………………………………………...

NAME

ADDRESS

OCCUPATION

Appendix B – Allocation of funds to date.

In accordance with the 2017 Affordable Housing Strategy, the Authority contacted all eligible bodies and 
advertised on our website that the window for the submission of applications to draw funding from the 
Authority’s Affordable Housing Fund was open.  The period for the submission of applications commenced 
on 14th August and closed on 25th September 2017.  

Two applications for funding were received relating to Land at Ty Clyd, Govilon (Melin Homes) and Land at 
Mountain View, Crickhowell (Powys County Council).  The Affordable Housing Working Group met on the 
11th January 2018 to consider both applications.  The Working Group resolved to recommend that Melin 
Homes be awarded £175,000 to assist with the delivery of a scheme proposing 16no Affordable Housing 
units for social rent.

At a meeting of the NPA on the 9th February 2018, the Authority resolved to award the monies. A full 
report of the Affordable Housing Working Group is provided here. Minutes of the meeting of the NPA is 
viewable here Item 15.

Since February 2018, the Authority has continued to collect Affordable Housing contribution funds from 
qualifying developments in line with the agreed strategy and have collected a total of £639,929.20 of funds 
and this is split between the following Unitary Authorities:

Housing Authority Collected Funds
Powys County Council £234,939.20

Page 76

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s28198/Affordable%20Housing%20Working%20Group%20-%20Award%20of%20Commuted%20Sums%20Report.pdf
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s28198/Affordable%20Housing%20Working%20Group%20-%20Award%20of%20Commuted%20Sums%20Report.pdf


The National Park Authority will now contact the Unitary Authorities and arrange for the funds to be 
securely transferred and controlled via the Service Level Agreements (Appendix A). 

Monmouthshire County Council £321,818.00
Carmarthenshire County Council £83,172.00

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 79

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	EGM Minutes 11 March 2022
	Minutes


	7 Revised Governance Documents
	Enc. 1 Revised Cost of Care Policy
	Enc. 2 DRAFT Schedule of Remuneration  2022-23 Eng

	8 Summary of consultation responses provided on behalf of the Authority
	Enc. 1 for Summary of consultation responses provided on behalf of the Authority
	Enc. 2 for Summary of consultation responses provided on behalf of the Authority

	9 Affordable Housing Strategy Update
	Enc. 1 for Affordable Housing Strategy Update

	13 Endorsement of additional Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) in the Brecon Beacons National Park
	Endorsement 1 = A review of the Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) in the Brecon Beacons National Park (2021)
	Endorsement 2 = List of recommendations for endorsement by NPA (Word and pdf format)
	Endorsement 3 = Map of existing and additional SINCs for review by NPA


